
 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management 

and Standards Committee Agenda 

Date: Tuesday 12 October 2021 

 

Time: 6.30 pm 

 

Venue: Virtual Meeting - Online 

Membership  (Quorum 3)  

Chair: Councillor David Perry  

Labour Councillors: Dean Gilligan 
Kairul Kareema Marikar 
Antonio Weiss 
 

Conservative Councillors: Philip Benjamin 
Amir Moshenson 
Kanti Rabadia (VC) 
 

Labour Reserve Members: 1. Niraj Dattani 
2. Chloe Smith 
3. Vacancy 
4. Vacancy 
  

Conservative Reserve Members: 1. Pritesh Patel 
2. John Hinkley 
 

Contact:  Daksha Ghelani, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

E-mail:  daksha.ghelani@harrow.gov.uk 

Scan this code for the electronic agenda: 

 



Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 12 October 2021 2 

Useful Information 

Meeting details: 

This meeting is open to the press and public and can be viewed on 
www.harrow.gov.uk/virtualmeeting 

Filming / recording of meetings 

Please note that proceedings at this meeting will be recorded or filmed.  If you choose to 
attend, you will be deemed to have consented to being recorded and/or filmed. 

The recording will be made available on the Council website following the meeting. 
 

Agenda publication date:  Monday 4 October 2021 

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/virtualmeeting


 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 12 October 2021 3 

Agenda - Part I  

1. Attendance by Reserve Members  
To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 
 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after the 

commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act as a 
Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after his/her 
arrival. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest  

To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising from 
business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Committee; 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

3. Minutes (Pages 5 - 10) 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2021 be taken as read and signed as a 
correct record. 
 

4. Public Questions *  
To receive any public questions received in accordance with Committee Procedure Rule 
17 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 
Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received.  There will be a time 
limit of 15 minutes for the asking and answering of public questions. 
 
[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, 7 October 2021.  
Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk    

No person may submit more than one question]. 
 

5. Petitions  
To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under the 
provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 

6. Deputations  
To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 16 
(Part 4B) of the Constitution. 
 

7. References from Council and other Committees/Panels  
To receive references from Council and any other Committees or Panels (if any). 
 

8. Information Report - Corporate Anti-Fraud Team Year-End Report 2020/21 (Pages 
11 - 26) 
Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance. 
 

mailto:publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk


 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 12 October 2021 4 

9. Any Other Urgent Business  
Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 
 

10. Exclusion of the Press Public  
To resolve that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of confidential 
information in breach of an obligation of confidence, or of exempt information as defined 
in Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972: 
  

Agenda 
Item No 
 
11. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Title 
 
 
Information Report - Q2 
Corporate Risk Register 
2021/22 
  
 
 
 

Description of Exempt Information 
 
 
Exempt from publication under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) as it contains information 
relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that 
information) 
 

12. Review Briefing 
 

Exempt from publication under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) as it contains information 
relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that 
information) 

 

Agenda - Part II  

11. Information Report - Q2 Corporate Risk Register 2021/22 (Pages 27 - 60) 
Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance. 
 

12. Review Briefing  
Verbal Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance. 
 
* Data Protection Act Notice  

The Council will record the meeting and will place the recording on the Council’s website. 
 
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 13 July 2021 Page 87 

 

Governance, Audit, Risk 

Management and Standards 

Committee  

Minutes 

13 July 2021 

Present:   

Chair: Councillor David Perry 
 

 

 

Councillors: Philip Benjamin 
Kairul Kareema Marikar 
Amir Moshenson 
 

Kanti Rabadia 
Chloe Smith 
 

 

 

 

Absent: Councillor Dean Gilligan 
 

  
 

 

160. Attendance by Reserve Members   

RESOLVED:  To note the attendance at this meeting of the following duly 
appointed Reserve Members:- 
 
Ordinary Member  
 

Reserve Member 
 

Councillor Dr Antonio Weiss Councillor Chloe Smith 
 

161. Declarations of Interest   

RESOLVED:  To note that there were no declarations of interests made by 
Members. 
 

162. Minutes   

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 April 2021 be taken 
as read and signed as a correct record. 
 

5

Agenda Item 3
Pages 5 to 10



 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 13 July 2021 Page 88 

163. Appointment of Vice-Chair   

RESOLVED:  To appoint Councillor Kanti Rabadia as Vice-Chair of the 
Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee for the 
2021/2022 Municipal Year. 
 

164. Public Questions   

RESOLVED:  To note that no public questions were received. 
 

165. Petitions   

RESOLVED:  To note that no petitions were received at the meeting under 
the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15. 
 

166. Deputations   

RESOLVED:  To note that no deputations were received at the meeting under 
the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 16. 
 

167. References from Council and other Committees/Panels   

RESOLVED:  To note that no references had been received. 
 
Resolved Items   

168. Information Report - Change to evidence verification process for 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support   

Members received a report which set out changes to the procedure for 
evidence verification in the administration of Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Support. 
 
Following the presentation of the report by the officer, Members asked 
questions and made comments as follows: 
 

 Clarification was sought in terms of the Council’s access to the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) system for the purposes of 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support and whether there were 
issues arising as a result in relation to data protection.  The officer 
confirmed that most of the information used was from the DWP and 
that the Council signed a memorandum of understanding on an annual 
basis.  Quality assurance checks within the procedures were in place 
to ensure that the Council complied. 
 

 A Member questioned whether the increased risk of fraud introduced 
by the new system required consideration and was advised that the all 
instances of Housing Benefit fraud were reviewed with the DWP.  The 
Council would look at risks to the system or if non provision of original 
documents was identified as increasing fraud.  Another Member asked 
whether the Council may, at some point in time, require 3rd party 
certification and was advised that this would be quite a high bar for 

6



 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 13 July 2021 Page 89 

residents to meet and that there were already officers and Housing 
Associations that could verify documents.  

 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 

169. Information Report - Annual Health and Safety Report   

Members received a report which summarised the Council’s health and safety 
performance for the year 1 April 2020 to 31st March 2021, provided an update 
of activities and gave information on outcome measures; Covid-19 response, 
training, audits and accidents.  The report also provided information about 
Occupational Health for information as well as the Health & Safety Strategy, 
Corporate Health and Safety Plan and Policy. 
 
The officer outlined the content of the report and advised that the year had 
been dominated by the pandemic and the resultant risk assessments.  In 
excess of 220 risk assessments had been carried out and, for example, the 
risk assessment for the Civic Centre had been reviewed 17 times. 
 
In terms of wellbeing and the Mental Health Strategy, a Member questioned 
whether there had been positive engagement with lone workers in terms of 
their mental health or whether actions were reactive.  There were likely to be 
circumstances where staff may be reluctant to come forward with mental 
health issues.  The officer advised that the Lone Working Policy had recently 
been reviewed and required that every manager with front facing staff had a 
risk assessment in order to identify the level of risk.  If there was a high risk, 
the manager had the option of a lone working device and if there was a low/ 
medium risk there were other mechanisms that could be put in place.  The 
Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development added that 
there had been active promotion of health and wellbeing for staff and that the 
DSE assessment would also apply to lone workers. 
 
In response to a question about the Building Safety Bill and the Council’s 
preparedness, the officer advised that there would be a person responsible for 
the building but that the qualifications required by this individual were still 
being established. 
 
A Member asked questions in relation to the reporting of accidents by staff 
whilst home working and was advised that any incident should be reported via 
the system.  The Committee was advised that there had been an increase in 
the reporting of RIDDOR as schools were being encouraged to report as a 
result of Service Level Agreements.  Responding to another Member’s 
question in relation to training, the officer advised this required continued 
cultural change. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 

170. Information Report - Internal Audit Year end report 2020/21   

Members received a report which set out the 2020/21 year end report for 
Internal Audit and included the Head of Internal Audit’s draft overall audit 
opinion on the control environment.   

7



 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 13 July 2021 Page 90 

 
The Head of Internal Audit introduced the report and advised Members that 
the Corporate Anti Fraud year end report was not available due to staff 
availability and that this had highlighted the need for increased resilience in 
the team.  It was intended to submit the report to the Committee’s next 
meeting.  She also reported a correction to the report in that 100% of the 
recommendations, not 98%, had been agreed. 
 
Members welcomed the broadly positive report and in response to a comment 
in relation to the one red assurance report, the Head of Internal Audit advised 
that all recommendations had been agreed and a follow-up of the 
implementation of the recommendations was in progress and the indications 
so far were that the majority of them had been implemented.  She added that 
there were also lessons to be learnt from the London Borough of Croydon’s 
experience and a piece of work was being undertaken to compare 
governance in place at Harrow with the recommendations made in this Public 
Interest report. 
 
A Member challenged the Harrow Strategic Development Partnership (HSDP) 
business plan stating that there were fundamental gaps.  The Director of 
Finance reassured Members that the scrutiny process in relation to HSDP 
would continue and that the role of the Committee in the process would be 
considered over the summer.  The HSDP would be an LLP and the Council’s 
current trading activity was reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  The 
HSDP would be included in that report or be dealt with by way of a stand-
alone report.  The Director acknowledged that the Member had asked 
questions at the recent meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
advised that she was in the process of drafting a response. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 

171. Information Report - Draft Annual Governance Statement   

Members received a report which set out the annual governance process and 
provided the Draft Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 2020/21 for 
information. 
 
A Member stated that he had previously requested the full financial 
statements for the previous three years of the companies listed on page 177 
of the agenda but acknowledged that the summaries were included in the 
quarterly report to Cabinet.  The Head of Internal Audit accepted the 
Member’s point that there had been an oversight in that the Gayton Road LLP 
was not listed with the other Trading Companies in the Draft AGS and 
provided an assurance that it would be included in the final AGS.  The 
Director of Finance advised that this information was available from 
Companies House but that a formal request could be made for this 
information.  Following a discussion, the Member was asked to submit his 
request in writing to the Chair for consideration. 
 
Clarification was sought as to the position of legal services, following the 
dissolution of the Alternative Business Structure, and the employees of the 
company.  The Member also requested details of the expenses incurred by 

8



 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 13 July 2021 Page 91 

HB Public Law.  The Head of Internal Audit explained that the employees 
were not employed by the company but by the Council and that the Director of 
Legal and Governance and Head of Legal Services were the company’s 
directors.  The Corporate Director of Resources advised that the Monitoring 
Officer had previously responded to questions on this matter and that this 
could be provided again. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 

172. Information Report - External Audit Plans 2020/21   

Having agreed to consider the report of the Director of Finance for the 
reasons set out on the supplemental agenda, the Committee considered the 
External Audit Plans 2020/21 from the Council’s External Auditors. 
 
The Chair welcomed the external auditors Lucy Nutley and Stuart Frith, 
Mazars to the meeting.  Ms Nutley outlined the content of the report and 
advised that there was an error in the fees detailed in the report.  The 
intention was to charge the fees set by a Service Level Agreement and that a 
further report on this matter would be submitted to the Committee in due 
course. 
 
In response to a Member’s question in relation to the risk of fraud in revenue 
recognition, the external auditor reported that the error should be blue.  In 
terms of the work to be undertaken as part of the Audit Plan, she confirmed 
that there had been an initial discussion with the Council and the work would 
centre around fraud and irregularities but advised that, at this stage, there 
were no matters she wished to highlight to Members.  
 
Following a query in relation to the Pension Scheme, the external auditor 
advised that the central report was prepared by Price Waterhouse Coopers 
(PWC).  Mazars checked the assumptions of Hymans Robertson were in line 
with all other actuaries. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the External Audit Plans (Audit Strategy Memoranda) for 
the Council and the Pension Fund be noted. 
 

173. Draft Statement of Accounts 2020-21   

Having agreed to consider the report of the Director of Finance for the 
reasons set out on the supplemental agenda, the Committee considered the 
draft Statement of Accounts 2020-21.  
 
A Member requested an explanation of the movement of £258m within the 
accounts and was advised that this related to the actuarial calculation on the 
pension liability for the London Borough of Harrow as an employer.  The 
calculation was made based on IAS19, a basis set out in the Accounting and 
Actuarial Standards.  The actual value of the assets had improved 
significantly during the last year which was partly due to the national lockdown 
at the end of the financial year 2020-21.  Markets had improved since that 
time which had had an impact on asset valuation.  The external auditor added 
that the assumptions would be looked at in detail as part of the audit. 

9



 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 13 July 2021 Page 92 

 
In response to a Member’s comment that the Council should have the option 
of being able to immediately liquidate usable reserves, an officer advised that 
considerable funds were invested in the Council’s capital programme and was 
available to spent on specific projects. 
 
As there were a number of detailed questions / clarifications requested by a 
Member, the Chair asked that these be provided to officers and resolved 
outside of the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the draft Statement of Accounts 2020-21 be noted. 
 

174. Exclusion of the Press Public   

RESOLVED:  That in accordance with Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for 
the following item for the reasons set out below: 
 
Item Title Reason  
15. Information Report – Q1 

Corporate Risk Register 
2021/22 

Information under paragraph 3 
(contains information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information). 

 
175. Information Report - Quarter 1 Corporate Risk Register 2021/22   

Members received a confidential report which set out the Council’s Corporate 
Risk Register 2021/22 for Quarter One of the financial year to assist the 
Committee in monitoring progress on risk management in accordance with 
their Terms of Reference. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 
(Note:  The meeting, having commenced at 6.31 pm, closed at 8.37 pm). 

(Signed) Councillor David Perry 
Chair 
 
 
 
 
 

10



 

Report for: GOVERNANCE, AUDIT 

AND RISK 

MANAGEMENT AND 

STANDARDS 

COMMITTEE  

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

12th October 2021 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT – 
Corporate Anti-Fraud Team Year-End 
Report 2020/21 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance & 
Assurance 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
Appendix1 – Corporate Anti-Fraud 
Year-End Report 2020/21 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

This report sets out the 2020/21 year-end report for the Corporate Anti-
Fraud Team. 
 
This report is presented to enable the Committee to fulfil the requirement of 
its Terms of Reference: 
 

 To consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit/ Corporate Anti-Fraud 
Manager on the Corporate Anti-Fraud Team’s performance at mid-year and 
at year-end. 

 
 FOR INFORMATION  
 
 

11

Agenda Item 8
Pages 11 to 26



Section 2 – Report 
Background 
 
2.1. Annually the GARMS Committee considers a mid and full year reports 

from Internal Audit & Corporate Anti-Fraud covering progress against the 
agreed annual plans to help fulfil its purpose in accordance with the 
Committee’s Terms of Reference.   

 
Corporate Anti-Fraud Team Year-End Report (Appendix 1) 
 
2.2. Of the 14 work streams contained within the plan, 8 (57%) were 

achieved, 3 (22%) were substantially achieved, 1 (7%) was partially 
achieved, 1 (7%) was not achieved and 1 (7%) was re-evaluated and 
changed for 2021/22.   

 
2.3 In terms of the key performance indicators, 3 (60%) were achieved and 2 

(40%) were substantially achieved. 
 
2.4 Performance against the Fraud Plan during 2020/21 is below 

expectation and usual achievements due to the challenges of the 
pandemic situation.  Investigation Officers have been unable to be as 
proactive as normal with site visits and interviewing suspects 
suspended.   

 
2.5 Virtual interviewing formally (PACE) was explored during the year but a 

decision was taken not to proceed after the legislative challenges of 
PACE interviewing virtually became too burdensome, also coupled with 
the variable nature of officers’ internet connection. 

 
2.5  Plans are underway to recommence face to face interviews at the Civic 

Centre once a thorough risk assessment has been complete and 
approved by CSB (Silver). 

  

Legal Implications 
 
There are no legal implications to this report. 

Financial Implications 

There are no financial implications to this report, the Corporate Anti-Fraud 
Team service was delivered within budget for 2020/21. 
 

Risk Management Implications 

Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? No  
    

12



Separate risk register in place? No  
 
The relevant risks contained in the register are attached/summarised 
below.  n/a  
 
The main risk relating to the performance of the CAFT is as follows:  
 

Risk Description  Mitigations  RAG Status  

Insufficient work is 
undertaken during the year 
to provide an adequate fraud 
deterrent and response 

 Production of an annual 
plan to guide the work of 
the team 

 Performance 
management of the team 

 Performance 
management reporting to 
GARMS Committee 

 An adequately resourced 
CAFT team and/or 
appropriate working 
methods to ensure 
adequate 
deterrent/response 

 

 

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality 

Duty  

N/A 

Council Priorities 

 
1. Improving the environment and addressing climate change 
 
2. Tackling poverty and inequality 
 
3. Building homes and infrastructure 
 
4. Addressing health and social care inequality 
 
5. Thriving economy 

 
The work of the Corporate Anti-Fraud Team service supports the delivery of 
the Council’s priorities by providing assurance on the effectiveness of fraud 
risk management controls and responding effectively when fraud occurs. 

 

13



Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
As this is an information report legal / finance / Corporate Director clearances 
are not necessary.   

Mandatory Checks 

Ward Councillors notified:  YES*/ NO*, as it impacts on all 
Wards  

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 

Contact:  Justin Phillips, Corporate Anti-Fraud Manager  
Tel: 0208 424 1609 

Background Papers:  None. 

If appropriate, does the report include the following 
considerations?  

1. Consultation  YES / NO 
2. Priorities YES / NO  
 

14



 

HARROW COUNCIL           Appendix 1 

Corporate Anti-Fraud Team Year-End Report  

2020/21 

 

 

CONTENTS: 

Introduction 

Summary of outputs/Progress against the Plan 

Performance of Anti-Fraud Team 

Fraud referrals, outputs and savings summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15



 

Introduction 
 
This report outlines the corporate ant-fraud work carried out during the year 2020-21.  The 
plan is risk based and developed through consultation internally and drawing upon external 
sources of data to ensure that where possible best practice is followed and fraud resources 
are targeted at those areas of the authority deemed to be of highest risk to fraud with the 
greatest potential negative financial impact and/or reputational damage.  The plan is 
approved by the Governance, Audit, Risk Management & Standards Committee (GARMS) 
annually and mid-year and year end progress reports provided against the plan to provide a 
level of assurance around the authorities’ fraud risk resilience capability.           
 

Summary of outputs/Progress against the plan          
 
A summary of key outputs from the programme of corporate anti-fraud work for the year is 
recorded in the table below.  Of the 14 work streams contained within the plan, 8 (57%) were 
achieved, 3 (22%) were substantially achieved, 1 (7%) was partially achieved, 1 (7%) was not 
achieved and 1 (7%) was re-evaluated and changed for 2021/22.  In terms of the key 
performance indicators, 3 (60%) were achieved and 2 (40%) were substantially achieved.  
  
  

Key Outputs at Year end  
 

Fraud work stream 
 
Detail 

1 Corporate fraud risk assessment 
 
Identify and assess Harrow’s fraud risk 
exposure affecting the principle activities 
in order to fully understand changing 
patterns in fraud and corruption threats 
and the potential harmful consequences 
to the authority and our customers 
 

Objective achieved 
A fraud risk assessment was a carried out to develop the fraud 

plan for 2021/22.  This was developed drawing on a number of 

sources of information including: - 

o Fighting Fraud & Corruption Locally 2020 (FFCL); a 

strategy for the 2020’s;  

o Local knowledge and intelligence about known fraud 

risks the authority faces and fraud cases identified 

during 2020-21 and previous years;  

o Regular discussions with the Head of Internal Audit 

and Interim Risk Manager to co-ordinate common 

interest work where possible; 

o Review of fraud and corruption trends and patterns 

across the UK and more specifically London.  

o Weekly Cifas Intelligence bulletins on Covid-19; fraud 

risks, attendance at quarterly Cifas Local Authority 

Business Sector Working Group meetings and 

quarterly Cifas Organised Fraud Cross Sector 

Meetings; 

o Regular NAFN bulletins received citing known fraud 

risks that members had been exposed to; 

o Cabinet Office National Fraud Initiative (NFI) bulletins 

with updates on high risk fraud areas.   

 

    
2 Corporate fraud risk register  

 
Objective re-evaluated and changed for 2021/22 
Focus shifted during the year to placing assurance on the Fighting 
Fraud & Corruption Locally Strategy 2020 and the accompanying 

16



 
Review and facilitate the updating of the 
fraud risk register annually where 
significant fraud and corruption risks are 
identified, mitigated and monitored  
 

checklist to manage fraud risks potentially impacting the authority.  
This strategy is the up to date strategy for Local Government and 
the most relevant for measuring the authority’s fraud risk resilience 
and this is reflected in the 2021/22 plan. 
   

3 Corporate Anti-Fraud & Corruption 
Strategy 
 
Review the Corporate Anti-Fraud & 
Corruption Strategy 2016-19 following the 
publication of Fighting Fraud & Corruption 
Locally Strategy 2020, including the 
drafting of any action plan to address any 
areas of improvement contained within 
the local response checklist section   

Objective not achieved  
A light touch review was undertaken during 2020/21 and no 
significant changes were identified.  This being the case, given the 
disruption of member meetings and the focus on dealing the 
pandemic it was not considered appropriate to take a document 
through the various member meetings.  However, the strategy 
remained relevant during 2020/21.   
 
A more detailed review against the Fighting Fraud & Corruption 
Locally Strategy 2020 will be undertaken during 2021/22. 
 

4. Establish a fraud loss methodology 
 
Develop and implement a fraud loss value 
methodology to apply consistently to 
significant fraud risk exposures enabling 
fraud losses to be measured accurately 
 

Objective substantially achieved 
 
A fraud loss methodology has been drafted and will be 
implemented for the financial year 2021-22 and reviewed to 
ensure it remains current.  This methodology will be presented to 
the committee in the CAFT mid-year progress report 2021/22 once 
agreed by the Head of Internal Audit & Corporate Anti-Fraud and 
the Director of Finance.      
 
 
 

5. National Fraud Initiative co-ordination 
role 
 
Co-ordination of the 2020/21 National 
Fraud Initiative (NFI) data match 
processing including: -  
 

 Ensuring all relevant service area 
privacy notices are up to date and 
follow best practice 

 Liaison with service leads to ensure 
data can be provided and in 
accordance with the relevant data 
specification 

 Ensure relevant data is extracted from 
legacy systems and handed to the 
CAFT for upload to the NFI website in 
accordance with the project deadline 

 Act as liaison and as a support role 
for service areas during the project  

Objective achieved 
 
All required data set privacy notices were reviewed and met 
the required standard for the National Fraud Initiative 
exercise. 
 
All required data was obtained from service areas in the 
correct specification and support provided to those areas 
where some adjustments were required. 
 
All required data was extracted from systems and 
successfully uploaded to the NFI website ahead of the 
deadline, with minimal data queries received back from the 
Cabinet Office.     
 
The matched data was released to the authority at the end of 
January 2021 and CAFT is presently reviewing matches and 
supporting service areas to review their matches. 
 
A fuller progress update will be provided in the mid-year 
report for 2021-22. 

 

  
  
  
  
  

 

6. Cifas Pilot Membership project  
 
Pilot membership of Cifas has been 
extended to March 2022. Cifas is the UK’s 
leading fraud prevention service that 
facilitates the sharing of fraud data for the 

Objective achieved 
 
The tenancy fraud data match was undertaken in Q3 and 
produced the following outcomes.  Tenant matches to the Cifas 
mortality file was made the priority in this exercise to identify 
tenancies where housing management had not been notified of a 

17



 
prevention and detection of crime across 
the public, private and third sectors.  
 
A Cifas proactive datamatch project 
involving housing tenants will be 
undertaken to identify tenancy 
fraud/misuse and potential subletting.  
 

tenant death and the property may have been occupied or sublet 
to other individuals:   
 

 4500 tenant records matched 

 115 mortality matches were returned 

 111 matches were processed with no further action 

 4 cases were flagged for further enquiries 

 3 cases live under investigation at year end 
 
 
    
 

7. Corporate anti-fraud awareness 
 
Raise awareness of fraud and corruption 
risks both within the authority and in the 
community through the publication of 
fraud successes in local and national 
media, including the use of all forms of 
social media including the following 
actions: -    

 Launch a campaign to increase 
employee participation of the 
fraud e-learning course in the 
learning pod 

 General internal 
communications bulletins in 
relation to articles on fraud and 
corruption 

 Issuing management reports 
detailing investigation outcomes 
and recommendations for 
improving fraud risk controls are 
implemented if agreed 
according to risk (KPI5) 

 Deliver virtual fraud workshops 
for high risk fraud areas as 
determined by the outcomes of 
the fraud risk register 

 Publicly through all forms of 
media on successful fraud 
cases, fraud initiatives and 
related prosecution outcomes   

 

 

Objective partially achieved 
 
Fraud e-learning 
The e-learning package has been refreshed by working with the 
provider to reflect current fraud risks faced by Local Authorities, in 
light of the Covid-19 grant funding and the best practice updated in 
the Fighting Fraud & Corruption Locally Strategy 2020.  However, 
no actual campaign to increase participation was undertaken given 
the disruption caused by the pandemic. 
 
Internal Communications 
Covid-19 grant fraud alerts received from NAFN and Cifas have 
been shared frequently with Revenues and the Economic 
Development Team.  Other general fraud bulletins received have 
been shared with different service areas potentially affected by 
fraud scams.     
 
Management reports and briefing notes 
In total, 12 fraud risk recommendations contained within 
investigation reports and briefing notes have been made to 
management with all 12 being agreed for implementation.   
KPI5 target 80%, achieved 100% (12/12)     
 
Workshops 
No fraud risks / awareness workshops have been delivered given 
the disruption of Covid-19 and the team adapting to the different 
ways of working. 
 
Publicity 
No publicity has been carried out this year.  

8. Fraud liaison 
 
Explore, develop and maintain effective 
liaison with investigation teams in other 
boroughs and external agencies and 
ensure that membership and interest 
continues in the London Borough of Fraud 
Investigators Group (LBFIG), The 
National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN), The 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) and Cifas 
 

Objective achieved 
 
The authority continued its membership of the National Anti Fraud 
Network (NAFN) for its essential role in intelligence and evidence 
gathering and the London Borough of Fraud Investigators Group 
(LBFIG).  NAFN is an essential service for accessing 3rd party 
information sources which is vital for supporting investigation work.   
 
Officers in the team have also attended a number of virtual 
Counter Fraud training events during the year particularly in 
relation to conducting socially distanced investigations which is 
vitally important given the Covid-19 restrictions.  
  
Established partnerships with the Immigration Enforcement 
Department, HMRC, the Home Office, the Metropolitan Police and 

18



 
other enforcement agencies continue to prove essential to 
investigative work. 
 
The pilot relationship with Cifas is continuing for 2021-22 where a 
decision will be made on whether the authority will seek 
permanent membership.  Based on the value it has already added 
and the potential to expand its use within the authority, it is likely 
that this will be recommended. 
 
 

9. Housing fraud 
 
Assess and investigate allegations of 
fraud and abuse in the housing system 
working in partnership with Housing 
Resident Services, Housing Needs and 
Harrow’s RSL’s including: 
 

 Seek to recover a combined total of 
10 social housing units and 
disrupt/intercept fraudulent Right to 
Buy applications (KPI1). 

 

 Prevent housing application fraud 
through a partnership approach with 
Housing Needs providing fraud risk 
advice, support and the investigations 
of allegations of fraud.  

 

 Prevent fraudulent Right to Buy (RTB) 
applications through targeted 
application validation with a fraud 
check on at least 90% applications 
referred to the CAFT at offer stage 
and before completion (KPI2). 

 

 Maximise the use of powers 
contained within the Prevention of 
Social Housing Fraud Act 2013 
(PoSHFA) in terms of gathering 
evidence, investigation and 
prosecution of offenders and recovery 
of unlawful profit 

 

 Plan and implement a proactive anti-
fraud datamatching exercise to 
identify the misuse of Council social 
housing units (see also Cifas section 
above) 

Objective substantially achieved 
 
Tenancy recoveries & Right to Buy applications 
disrupted/intercepted work stream 
Working in partnership with Housing Resident Services, Harrow’s 
Registered Social Landlords (RSLs), Leasehold Services and HB 
Public Law, 2 social housing tenancies (£93,000 x 2) were 
recovered and 5 Right to Buys (£110,500 x 2 & £112,300 x 3) 
were intercepted.   
 
The value of RTB loss prevention is equal to the value of the 
purchase discount which can vary depending on the length of time 
the tenant has occupied the property and when they submitted 
their application as the discount increase annually in line with the 
consumer price index (CPI).     
KPI1 target 10, achieved 7 (70%) 
 
Housing Applications work stream 
A total of 9 housing application referrals have been received by 
the team during the year and no fraud has been detected to date 
where an application was rejected.  
 
RTB work stream  
Out of a total of 25 Right to Buy applications received by the team, 
all 25 Right to Buy applications have been checked or are in the 
process of being fraud checked before purchase or the application 
determined (denied). 
KPI2 target 90%, achieved 100% 
 
PoSHFA 2013 Powers work stream 
The authority has utilised powers contained within the above act 
through requests to the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) on 
31 occasions this year.  This enables the authority to access 
personal financial data held by the banks on individuals on cases 
of suspected tenancy sub-let, RTB and housing applications 
where there is doubt over the accuracy of the subject’s account of 
events.      
 
Proactive Drive 
A proactive drive to identify non occupation/subletting of Council 
social housing was undertaken.  The key fob entry use system and 
tenant access activity of 324 flats across four Council 
estates/blocks was analysed as intelligence from previous cases 
suggested these were high risks areas in the borough for 
consideration. 
 
In all, 103 flats were identified for key fob activity analysis after 
initial review 
 
11 cases were referred for full investigation. 

19



 
 
9 cases are currently under investigation. 
 
Also see the Cifas work stream at stream 6 above. 
 
Overall fraud loss prevented attributed to the housing fraud 
work stream is £743,900 based on: 
 

 Tenancy recovery value according to the Cabinet Office 
and the authorities’ fraud loss formula is £93,000 per unit. 

 

 Fraud loss prevention value calculated by the authority as 
per the fraud loss formula is the amount of discount the 
applicant would qualify for in the purchase; the maximum 
discount in 2020/21 is £112,300 and in 2019/20 it was 
£110,500.   

 

10. Covid-19 Business Grants 
 
Work jointly with Internal Audit to 
undertake a review of the Small Business 
Grants Fund, the Retail, Hospitality & 
Leisure Grants Fund and the 
Discretionary Grants Fund launched by 
the Department for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) and 
implemented by the authority to provide 
financial assistance to local businesses in 
Harrow. This work may identify suspected 
fraud cases which will be investigated 
fully and steps taken to recover any 
losses identified  
 

Objective achieved 
 
Prior to the audit taking place the CAFT contributed to the design 
of the grant application process supporting both Revenue and 
Economic Development including undertaking Spotlight and 
Experian checks (validation checks) on their behalf and provided a 
risk profile to ensure that low risk cases were fast tracked for 
payment and high risk cases were recommended for greater 
verification.  
 
Internal Audit undertook the audit of Covid Business Grant 
applications processed during the year and the intention was to 
refer any concerns to the CAFT for investigation, however no fraud 
referrals were made during the audit. 
 
 

11. Internal fraud & corruption 
 
Risk assess 80% allegations of internal 
fraud and corruption as a priority and 
deploy resources on those cases where 
there is corroborative evidence within an 
average of 5 workings days of receipt of 
the information (KPI3).      
 

Substantially achieved 
 
Of the 3 internal fraud referrals received, 2 were risk assessed and 
resources allocated within in 5 working days and the other referral 
took 7 working days.  Whilst the performance indicator was not 
achieved, the target was missed by just 2 working days for so did 
not present any significant delay concerns. 
 
KPI3 target 80%, achieved 75%. 
   
There has been 1 positive outcome during the year where 
following an NFI datamatch, an employee was found to be working 
for the authority and also working additional hours for another 
authority in excess of the working time directive.  The employee 
was subject to a management disciplinary investigation for failure 
to declare the additional work but resigned before the hearing.   
  
Overall fraud loss prevented attributed to this work stream is 
£20,451 
 

 Value determined by the authority as the annual salary of 
the post for 1 year as per the fraud loss formula   

 

  

20



 
12. Revenues/Business Rates/Council Tax 

Support fraud 
 
Work in partnership with Revenues and 
Benefits to investigate allegations of fraud 
and abuse on a risk basis of the Council 
Tax, Council Tax Support and Non 
Domestic Rates Systems, including 
exemptions, discounts and reliefs, apply 
appropriate sanctions where fraud is 
proven and assist in the recovery of fraud 
related losses 
 

Objective achieved 
 
The team received 14 referrals of Council Tax discount/exemption 
fraud, CTRS fraud and NNDR/Covid-19 grant fraud.  Fraud 
recoverable overpayments achieved are as follows;- 
 
Council Tax Benefit £965.87 
Council Tax Reduction Support £5,862.32 
Housing Benefit £32,209.75 
 
In all of these cases, the main focus of the investigation was 
housing tenancy fraud and subletting/non occupation and once 
fraud had been established CAFT findings were shared across 
both Revenues and Housing Benefit for them to reassess 
entitlement 
 
Overall recoverable fraud losses attributed to this work 
stream is £39,037.55  
 

 Value of recoverable overpayments raised by Housing Benefit 
following a CAFT recommendation to reassess the applicant’s 
entitlement 

 
 

13. Social care fraud  
 
Work in partnership with the People 
Directorate to investigate allegations of 
fraud and abuse of the social care system 
including but not limited to: - 

 

 Personal budget applications, 
assessment and monitoring of 
spend 
 

 Long term residential care 
applications financial 
assessments and reviews  

Objective achieved 
 
One No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) case that was referred 
before April 2020 was investigated where the applicant had failed 
to disclose a change in their immigration status affecting the 
financial support the authority was providing.  The weekly ongoing 
saving to the authority amount to £612.94 per week. 
 
In addition as part of Internal Audit’s annual plan of works, they 
undertook an audit of i) Personal Budget Monitoring and ii) 
Financial Assessments for Residential and Non- residential care.   
 
(i) Prior to undertaking this work it was decided that CAFT would 
investigate any cases that Internal Audit identified with fraud risk 
concerns about in relation to the Personal Budgets.  In all four 
fraud referrals were identified and passed to the CAFT.  All four 
are still under investigation.  
 
(ii) Prior to Internal Audit undertaking the Financial Assessments 
review for Residential and Non- Residential Care, it was agreed 
that the CAFT would fraud check 100% of the sample which 
amounted to twenty cases (ten of each).  At the time of writing five 
residential care investigations were still live and six Non-residential 
care investigation were live.  In the nine investigations that were 
closed, no fraud was uncovered.      
 
Overall fraud prevention losses attributed to this work stream 
is £612.94 
 

 Weekly support stopped as customer stopped engaging with 
the Home Office.  Ongoing concerns were raised over whether 
he was working as bank accounts were identified which is 
unusual as an asylum seeker.  When the CAFT commenced 
investigation the applicant disappeared.  

 

21



 
14. Risk assess allegations of fraud and 

corruption 
 
Risk assess 80% of allegations of fraud 
and corruption and deploy resources on 
those cases deemed sufficiently high 
enough fraud risk within an average of 10 
working days of receipt of the information. 
(KPI4) 
 

Objective achieved 
 
Of the 109 referrals received during the year, 105 (96%) were risk 
assessed and resources deployed to those cases accepted for 
investigation within 10 working days. 
 
In comparison to the previous year 2019/20, fraud referrals 
received were down from 213 (almost 50%) 
 
KPI4 target 80%, achieved 96% 
    

 
  

22



 

Performance of Corporate Anti-Fraud Team  
at Mid-Year 

 
Introduction  
 
A number of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) were agreed as part of the 2020-21 
Corporate Anti-Fraud Plan and performance against these is set out in the table below: 
 
 

No. CAFT Key 
Performance 
Indicators 2020-21 
 

Year-
end 
target 

Year-
end 
output 

Comments 

1. Recovery of a combined 
total 10 social housing units 
subject to fraud and misuse 
and the disruption / 
interception of fraudulent 
Right to Buy applications  
 

10 7 (70%) Substantially achieved 
5 Right to Buy applications were intercepted 
and 2 housing tenancies recovered suspected 
of non-occupation/misuse.  Covid-19 
restrictions have resulted in Investigation 
Officers working from home since April 2020 
which has impacted the effectiveness of work 
undertaken including a cessation of both visits 
and formal interviews    

2. Fraud validation checks 
undertaken on Right to Buy 
applications referred to the 
CAFT at offer stage and 
before completion 
 

90% 100% 
(25/25)  

Achieved  
Of the 25 Right to Buy applications received 
by the team during in the year, all 25 (100%) 
had anti money laundering checks carried out 
before purchase or were in progress before a 
decision made to accept or deny the purchase. 

3. Internal fraud and 
corruption referrals risk 
assessed and resources 
deployed in 5 working days 

80%  75% (3/4) Substantially achieved 
Of the 4 internal fraud and corruption referrals 
received by the team, 3 (75%) were risk 
assessed and resources deployed within 5 
working days whilst 1 referral took 7 working 
days which did not create a significant delay 
risk.   

4. Fraud and corruption 
referrals risk assessed and 
resources deployed in 10 
working days 
 

80% 96% 
(105/109) 

Achieved 
Of the 109 referrals received by the team 
during the year, 105 (96%) were risk assessed 
and resources deployed within 10 working 
days. 

5. Fraud risk 
recommendations agreed 
for implementation  
 

80% 100% 
(12/12) 
 

Achieved  
Of the12 fraud risk recommendations made by 
the team in reports and briefing notes, 12 
(100%) were agreed for implementation by 
management 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23



 
 

 
Fraud referrals, outputs and savings summary 

Fraud Risk Area 2020-21 Q1 & 2 
 

2020-21 Q3 & 4 

Housing application fraud 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Savings 
 

 
6 
0 
£0 

 
3 
0 
£0 

Blue badge 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Savings 
 

 
0 
0 
£0 

 
1 
0 
£0 

Fraud other 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Savings 
 

 
0 
1 
£15,682 (1 supplier overpaid and 

fully recovered) 

 

 
0 
0 
£0 

No Recourse to Public Funds 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Savings 
 

 
0 
1 (referral received in 19/20) 

£612.94 (1 individual supported 

ceased) 

 
1 
0 
£0 
 

Revenues/CT/CTRS/HB 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Savings 
 

 
6 
0 
£0  

 
8 
2 
£39,037.55 

Internal 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Savings 
 

 
2 
1 
£20,451 (1 employee resigned mid 

disciplinary)  

 
2 
0 
£0 

Right to Buy 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Savings 
 

 
12 
2 
£221,000 (2 x RTB applications 

rejected) 

 
13 
3 
£336,900 (3 x RTB 

applications rejected) 

Social care/grants 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Savings 

 
1 
0 
£0 

 
20 
0 
£0 

Tenancy 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 

 
13 
0 

 
24 
2  

24



 

 
 
 
2020-21 Year-End Financial Summary 
 
The level of fraud and corruption identified impacting the authority for 2020-21 at year end is 
in excess of £800,000 which represents an approximate return on investment for the team’s 
operating costs of greater than 3:1.   
 
The breakdown of the above figures is as follows; recoverable loss £55,332.49 (7%), 
prevented loss (savings) £764,351 (93%) and unrecoverable loss £0.   
 
 
 

Savings 
 

£0 £186,000 (2 x tenancies 

recovered) 

 

Totals 
 
Referrals 
Positive outputs 
Fraud Savings 

 
 
40 
6 
£257,745.94 

 
 
72 
7 
£561,937.55 
 

25



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

27

Agenda Item 11
Pages 27 to 60



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

33



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Information Report - Corporate Anti-Fraud Team Year-End Report 2020/21
	CAFT Year End Report 20-21 Appendix 1 (002) (002)

	11 Information Report - Q2 Corporate Risk Register 2021/22
	PART II - Final Q2 Corporate Risk Register 2021-22 CSB 22.09.21 (002)


